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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Case 1:20-cv-00550   Document 1-11   Filed 02/27/20   USDC Colorado   Page 1 of 2

              District of Colorado

DLCTM, Ltd., a Texas Limited Partnership

United States Forest Service 
An Agency of the United States Department of 

Agriculture

 
United States Forest Service 
An Agency of the United States Department of Agriculture 
Rocky Mountain Regional Office 
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

Case 1:20-cv-00550   Document 1-11   Filed 02/27/20   USDC Colorado   Page 2 of 2

0.00
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

Case 1:20-cv-00550   Document 1-12   Filed 02/27/20   USDC Colorado   Page 2 of 2
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
Civil Action No. 
 
DLCTM, LTD., a Texas Limited Partnership, 
 
 Plaintiff,  
 
v. 
  
UNITED STATES FOREST SERVICE,  
AN AGENCY OF THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE 
 
 Defendant. 
 

COMPLAINT  

 

 Plaintiff DLCTM, LTD., a Texas Limited Partnership (“Plaintiff” or “DLCTM”), brings 

the following Complaint against Defendant United States Forest Service (“Forest Service” or 

“Defendant”), an agency of the United States Department of Agriculture. 

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY 

1. This complaint for judicial review of agency action under the Administrative 

Procedure Act seeks an order setting aside and enjoining the Forest Service from completing a 

planned exchange of federal lands for non-federal lands in Gunnison County, Colorado unless or 

until the Forest Service satisfies an express condition of its land exchange decision.  DLCTM 

seeks an order compelling the Forest Service to satisfy that express condition. 

2. The Forest Service is prepared to complete the Fossil Ridge II Land Exchange, 

also known as the Long Lake Land Exchange (the “land exchange”), without satisfying the 

express condition of the land exchange decision that “the Non-Federal Party [to the land 

Case 1:20-cv-00550   Document 1   Filed 02/27/20   USDC Colorado   Page 1 of 21
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exchange] will be required to provide a replacement easement at closing, authorizing equivalent 

rights” to the “Reciprocal easement granted to Pristine Point Inc., recorded at Gunnison County 

on January 29, 1996, Book 777, Page 722.”  The “replacement easement” condition of the land 

exchange decision ensures that the land exchange will not diminish or prejudice the access rights 

of owners of lands within the Pristine Point Subdivision (including DLCTM) that adjoin or are 

near the federal lands to be transferred.  The condition ensures that, after the exchange, DLCTM 

will continue to have vehicle and subsurface utility line access across the federal parcel to be 

transferred out of federal ownership so that DLCTM may access the residential subdivision and 

construct a residence on its land.   

3. Crested Butte Land Trust (“CBLT”) is the non-federal party to the land exchange.  

The Forest Service decided to transfer the federal parcel adjoining the Pristine Point Subdivision 

to CBLT in exchange for private lands elsewhere in Gunnison County that CBLT will convey to 

the United States. 

4. The land exchange condition requires the Forest Service to require CBLT to 

provide “at closing” of the land exchange an easement over the federal parcel transferred out of 

federal ownership “equivalent” to the “reciprocal easement” that appears at Book 777, Page 722 

of the Gunnison County real property records.  The stated express condition appears on page 2 of 

the Forest Service’s June 25, 2019 Categorical Exclusion and Decision Memo (the “Decision”), 

attached as Exhibit 1. 

5. DLCTM seeks in this action an order of this Court compelling the Forest Service 

to require CBLT to provide the replacement easement at closing of the land exchange, and an 

order enjoining the Forest Service from undertaking the exchange unless or until it does so.  

Case 1:20-cv-00550   Document 1   Filed 02/27/20   USDC Colorado   Page 2 of 21



3 

 

Absent this Court’s relief, the Forest Service plans to transfer the federal lands to CBLT, an 

entity who claims that DLCTM is not entitled to utility line access to its own property, and who 

refuses to acknowledge that both it and the Forest Service are legally required to provide 

DLCTM with vehicle and subsurface utility line access across lands to DLCTM’s Lot 18.   

JURISDICTION 

6. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1331.   

7. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) because a substantial part of the 

events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this district and the property that is the 

subject of the action is situated in this district. 

8. The Decision is final agency action within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 704.   

9. No statute or regulation required DLCTM to submit an administrative appeal, 

objection, protest or request for review within the Forest Service or the Department of 

Agriculture prior to filing this Complaint.  See Exhibit 1 at 7.  DLCTM was not required to 

exhaust any administrative remedies prior to filing this Complaint. 

10. This Court has authority to review the Decision under the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 702, 

706.  This Court may grant declaratory and injunctive relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2201 (declaratory 

judgment), 28 U.S.C § 2202 (injunctive relief), and the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706. 

PARTIES 

11. Plaintiff DLCTM, Ltd. is a Texas Limited Partnership located at 301 Mayerling 

Dr., Houston, Texas, 77024.  DLCTM owns Lot 18 in Pristine Point Subdivision, Gunnison 

County, Colorado.  DLCTM purchased Lot 18 in reliance that it would have year-round access to 

Lot 18 to use and develop it for a residence, including by providing subsurface utilities to Lot 18, 
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using the easement the Forest Service granted to Pristine Point, Inc. that appears at Exhibit 2.  

See Exhibits 2, 8, 9.  DLCTM is a member in good standing of the Pristine Point Owners’ 

Association, Inc.  DLCTM is a beneficiary of and authorized user of the easement attached as 

Exhibit 2. 

12. DLCTM has constitutional and zone of interest standing under the Administrative 

Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 702.   

a. DLCTM has constitutional standing to invoke this Court’s jurisdiction to review 

this case and controversy.  The Forest Service’s refusal to adhere to the condition 

of the Decision that it require CBLT to provide “at closing” an easement 

“equivalent” to the easement attached as Exhibit 2 injures DLCTM by wrongly 

depriving it of vehicle and subsurface utility access to Lot 18.  The Forest Service 

caused that injury to DLCTM because the Forest Service denies that it has any 

obligation to require CBLT to provide “at closing” a “replacement easement” to 

benefit DLCTM and other owners within the Pristine Point Subdivision.  An order 

of this Court compelling the Forest Service to satisfy the replacement easement 

condition of the land exchange Decision, or an order enjoining the Forest Service 

from closing the land exchange without satisfying that same condition, would 

redress the injury to DLCTM. 

b. DLCTM’s interests are within the zone of interests protected by the Federal Land 

Policy Management Act, National Environmental Policy Act and Administrative 

Procedure Act.  DLCTM has interests as an owner of Lot 18, a member of 

Pristine Point Owner’s Association, a beneficiary of the easement attached as 
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Exhibit 2, and is a party that is adversely affected or aggrieved by the agency’s 

refusal to satisfy the replacement easement condition of the Decision.  Those 

interests are protected by the right-of-way and land exchange provisions of the 

Federal Land Policy Management Act, 43 U.S.C. §§ 1716, 1761, the National 

Environmental Policy Act, and the judicial review provisions of the 

Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 702, 706.   

13. Defendant United States Forest Service is a federal agency within the United 

States Department of Agriculture.  The Federal Land Policy Management Act authorizes the 

Forest Service to dispose of a tract of public land by exchange where the Forest Service finds it 

to be in the public interest.  43 U.S.C. § 1716(a); see also 36 C.F.R. § 254.3.  Conditions for a 

land exchange identified in a public interest determination under the Federal Land Policy 

Management Act are legally binding upon the agency because those conditions are the statutory 

prerequisite for the agency to convey title to federal lands.  43 U.S.C. § 1716(a).  Pursuant to the 

Federal Land Policy Management Act, the Forest Service issued the Decision and determined it 

to be in the public interest to convey the federal parcel to CBLT so long as CBLT provides at 

closing an easement over that parcel to benefit the lot owners within the Pristine Point 

Subdivision, including the owners of Lot 18.    

ADDITIONAL ALLEGATIONS 

14. The Forest Service’s land exchange Decision imposes the following condition for 

the agency’s decision to transfer the federal parcel to CBLT, the non-federal party to the 

exchange: 

Outstanding Rights: 
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1. Reciprocal easement granted to Pristine Point Inc. recorded at Gunnison 
County on January 29, 1996, Book 777, Page 722; the Non-Federal Party will 
be required to provide a replacement easement at closing, authorizing 
equivalent rights. 

 
Exhibit 1 at 2.  The “reciprocal easement” that is the subject of the express condition of the 

Forest Service’s land exchange Decision appears at Book 777, Page 722, Gunnison County, is 

attached as Exhibit 2, and is referred to in this Complaint as the “Reciprocal Easement.”  

See Exhibit 2.   

15. The Reciprocal Easement provides access over Forest Service lands to Lot 18 of 

the Pristine Point Subdivision near the Town of Mt. Crested Butte in Gunnison County, 

Colorado.  See Plat Depicting Easement and Lot 18, attached as Exhibit 4 at 2.  The purpose of 

the Reciprocal Easement was, and is, to allow for road and subsurface utility line access over 

Forest Service lands to lots within the Pristine Point Subdivision, including Lot 18 so that the 

owner of Lot 18 may construct a residence.  The Reciprocal Easement provides that it “shall 

continue for as long as needed for the purpose of access to a residential subdivision.”  Exhibit 2 

at 2.  The Exhibit A to the Reciprocal Easement states that the easement over the Forest Service 

parcel is 80 feet wide, 40 feet on each side of the centerline, and depicts the Reciprocal Easement 

providing the sole access to Lot 18 of the Pristine Point Subdivision.  See Exhibit 2 at Ex. A. 

16. On information and belief, Exhibit A to the Reciprocal Easement provides that the 

depicted easement allows for utilities.  See Exhibit 2 at Ex. A.  

17. “Access to a residential subdivision” within the meaning of the Reciprocal 

Easement, and within the meaning of Exhibit A to the Reciprocal Easement, includes year-round 

vehicle access and subsurface utility line access for the owner of Lot 18 sufficient to allow for 

the construction, use and occupation of a residence on Lot 18.  Exhibit 2.   
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18. The Reciprocal Easement is “reciprocal” because it was and is intended to provide 

the same easement and access rights and subsurface utilities as a separate easement to which the 

Reciprocal Easement connects at three locations.  Pristine Point, Inc. granted that separate 

easement to the Forest Service in the Pristine Point Subdivision, recorded in Gunnison County, 

Book 777, Page 433.  The easement recorded at Book 777, Page 433 expressly provided for the 

“installation, replacement, repair and maintenance of underground utility lines and fixtures.”  See 

Grant of Existing Road Easement, Gunnison County, Book 777, Page 433, attached as Exhibit 3 

at page 2.  That separate easement attached as Exhibit 3 is referred to in this Complaint as the 

“Separate Easement.” 

19. The recorded plat for Pristine Point Subdivision depicts both the Reciprocal 

Easement and the Separate Easement and shows that vehicle and subsurface utility line access to 

Lot 18 requires travel over the Separate Easement, over a segment of the Reciprocal Easement, 

over a segment of the Separate Easement, and over a segment of the Reciprocal Easement.  See 

Exhibit 4 at 2.  The recorded plat states that the Reciprocal Easement granted by the Forest 

Service provides vehicle and utility access to Lot 18.  It depicts the Reciprocal Easement over 

Forest Service lands and states “80’ Wide Lot 18 Utility And Access Easement Per Book 777, 

Page 722.”  See Pristine Point at Crested Butte Plat, Gunnison County, Reception No. 478904 at 

2, October 8, 1997, attached as Exhibit 4 at page 2.  The recorded plat shows that the connected 

segments of the Reciprocal Easement and the Separate Easement provide vehicle and subsurface 

utility line access to Lot 18.  See Exhibit 4 at 2.   

20. Pristine Point, Inc., the original grantee of the Reciprocal Easement, assigned the 

Reciprocal Easement to the Pristine Point Owners’ Association, Inc. in 2019.  See Assignment of 
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Easement, Gunnison County, Reception No. 660914, recorded July 8, 2019, attached as 

Exhibit 6.    

21. The land exchange condition obligates the Forest Service to require CBLT “to 

provide a replacement easement at closing authorizing equivalent rights” to the “Reciprocal 

easement granted to Pristine Point Inc. recorded at Gunnison County on January 29, 1996, Book 

777, Page 722.”  Exhibit 1 at 2.  The land exchange “replacement easement” condition requires 

the Forest Service to require CBLT to provide “at closing” an easement in favor of the Pristine 

Point Subdivision that provides year-round vehicle access for Pristine Point lot owners and 

subsurface utility line access sufficient to allow for the construction, use and occupation of a 

residence on Lot 18.   

22. The Forest Service has stated its intent to disregard the replacement easement 

condition of the Decision.  The Forest Service has stated that the agency plans to transfer the 

federal parcel to CBLT without requiring CBLT to provide the replacement easement at closing 

to benefit the Pristine Point Subdivision, including DLCTM, the owner of Lot 18.  The Forest 

Service has not explained why it refuses to follow the replacement easement condition of the 

land exchange Decision.  See Letter of Forest Supervisor Chad Stewart January 28, 2020, 

attached as Exhibit 5.     

23. CBLT’s Executive Director Noel Durant has had several phone and email 

conversations with representatives of DLCTM.  Contrary to the express language of the 

Decision, CBLT now maintains it is no longer required to provide a replacement easement.  

DLCTM has been consistent in its efforts to document with CBLT access for utilities to Lot 18.  
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Although Mr. Durant expressed a willingness to consider the topic of utilities to Lot 18 after the 

transaction closed, when pressed he stated CBLT’s position that Lot 18 has no rights to utilities.  

24. DLCTM purchased Lot 18 in 2013.  During the marketing and sale of Lot 18 to 

DLCTM, the Seller expressly represented “[c]ity utilities available” and more specifically 

“Gunn. Cnty Electric, Telephone, Public Sewer, Central Water.” See Marketing for Sale of Lot 

18 Pristine Point, attached as Exhibit 8; and Detailed Land Report, attached as Exhibit 9. 

25. CBLT refuses to follow the terms of the land exchange Decision.  CBLT refuses 

to provide at closing an easement to Pristine Point Subdivision, including DLCTM as owner of 

Lot 18, that provides lot owners with vehicle access, and DLCTM with subsurface utility line 

access to Lot 18 through the federal parcel to be transferred to CBLT.  CBLT claims that the 

Reciprocal Easement does not provide utility line access to Lot 18.  But CBLT has record title 

notice under Colorado law that the Reciprocal Easement provides for subsurface utility line 

access for the owner of Lot 18, including based on the recorded plat for Pristine Point.  See 

Exhibit 2, Exhibit 4 at 2; Arnove v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n of Tarpon Springs, Fla., 713 

P.2d 1329, 1331 (Colo. App. 1985) (noting that all persons have constructive notice of the terms 

of recorded instruments).  Yet CBLT intends to close upon the land exchange without fulfilling 

at closing its duty under the land exchange Decision to provide a replacement easement to the 

Pristine Point Subdivision.  The Forest Service has not explained why it plans to ignore the 

replacement easement condition of the land exchange Decision.  The Forest Service’s refusal to 

require CBLT to provide a replacement easement at closing will landlock and maroon Lot 18, 

rendering it undevelopable.     
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26. The Forest Service’s willful disregard of the replacement easement condition of 

the land exchange Decision is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, and not in accordance 

with law within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2).  The agency’s plan to transfer the federal 

parcel to CBLT without complying with the express condition of the Decision is also agency 

action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(1). 

27. The Forest Service is bound by the replacement easement condition of its land 

exchange Decision because the agency is required to follow conditions it imposes on itself.  

E.g., 40 C.F.R. § 1505.3 (“Mitigation . . . and other conditions established . . . during its review 

and committed as part of the decision shall be implanted by the lead agency.”).      

28. The Forest Service will violate the Federal Land Policy Management Act if it 

undertakes the land exchange without requiring CBLT to provide “at closing” a “replacement 

easement” that provides Pristine Point Subdivision with vehicle access and subsurface utility line 

access, including to Lot 18, over the lands to be transferred to CBLT because that condition is a 

basis for the agency’s determination that the exchange is in the public interest within the 

meaning of 43 U.S.C. § 1716(a).   

29. The Forest Service will violate the National Environmental Policy Act if it 

undertakes the land exchange without requiring CBLT to provide “at closing” a “replacement 

easement” that provides Pristine Point Subdivision with vehicle access and subsurface utility line 

access, including to Lot 18, over the lands to be transferred to CBLT.   

a. The Forest Service’s land exchange decision is major federal action that triggers 

the duty to prepare an environmental review document under the National 

Environmental Policy Act.  42 U.S.C. § 4332(c).   
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b. The Forest Service did not prepare an environmental assessment or environmental 

impact statement prior to issuing the land exchange Decision.  See Exhibit 1.   

c. The Forest Service instead relied upon a categorical exclusion from the National 

Environmental Policy Act set forth at 36 C.F.R. § 220.6(d)(7).  That categorical 

exclusion is for an “exchange of land or interest in land where resulting land uses 

remain essentially the same.”  36 C.F.R. § 220.6(d)(7).   

d. The “land use” of the federal parcel to be transferred to CBLT includes the 

Reciprocal Easement in favor of the Pristine Point Subdivision for vehicle and 

subsurface utility line access to a residential subdivision, including to Lot 18.  

Further, the “land use” of Lot 18 for purposes of the categorical exclusion allows 

for development of a residential structure, with utility line access, as depicted on 

the recorded Pristine Point Subdivision Plan, of which the Forest Service and 

CBLT have had record title notice under Colorado law.  See Exhibit 4.   

e. If the Forest Service transfers the federal lands to CBLT without requiring CBLT 

to provide the replacement easement, the Forest Service will take action that 

changes the land uses of both the federal parcel and Lot 18.  That action will land 

lock, or maroon, Lot 18 without access sufficient to develop a residence.  

Changing the uses of the lands resulting from the land exchange exceeds the 

scope of the categorical exclusion at 36 C.F.R. § 220.6(d)(7), and results in 

environmental consequences that the Forest Service neither disclosed nor 

analyzed under the National Environmental Policy Act.  Such a result would not 
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ensure that “resulting land uses remain essentially the same” as required by 36 

C.F.R. § 220.6(d)(7).   

30. But the Forest Service now prefers not to follow the replacement easement 

condition of its own Decision.  Without ever explaining why, the Forest Service has stated that it 

will not require CBLT to provide the easement at closing to benefit Pristine Point, including the 

owner of Lot 18.  See Exhibit 5.  The Forest Service instead says it will assign the Forest 

Service’s interest as grantor of the easement it granted to Pristine Point Inc. to CBLT.  See 

Exhibit 5 at 1 (“[T]he agency plans to convey the agency’s rights to administer and enforce the 

easement to CBLT.”).   

31. The Forest Service cannot delegate the agency’s interest as grantor of the 

Reciprocal Easement to CBLT because CBLT, a non-federal entity, is not authorized to hold or 

administer a right-of-way issued pursuant to and subject to the Federal Land Policy Management 

Act.  See 43 U.S.C. § 1761 (authorizing the Department of Agriculture and Department of 

Interior to issue, hold, and administer rights-of-way over federal lands); Forest Serv. Emps. for 

Envtl. Ethics v. U.S. Forest Serv., 689 F. Supp.2d 891, 905 (W.D. Ky. 2010) (ruling that the 

Forest Service could not delegate to a non-Forest Service entity the power to administer special 

use permits because “[t]he delegation of such power by the Forest Service constitutes unlawful 

delegation of the agency’s duty” and “the Forest Service has been unable to show affirmative 

evidence of Congressional authority to delegate so extensively in direct violation of its 

regulations.”).  It would be arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, and contrary to law for 

the Forest Service to delegate the grantor’s interest in the Reciprocal Easement to CBLT given 
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CBLT’s position that the Reciprocal Easement does not provide subsurface utility line access to 

Lot 18.       

32. The Forest Service, prepared to receive the private lands conveyed to it in the land 

exchange, and as a result of its own failure to honor its own written obligation, now seeks to 

avoid requiring CBLT to provide the replacement easement, instead preferring to force DLCTM, 

Ltd. to suffer uncertainty and no access to its real property across lands to be conveyed to CBLT. 

33. The Forest Service never stated in the Decision that the Reciprocal Easement does 

not provide subsurface utility line access to Lot 18. 

34. DLCTM wrote the Forest Service on February 4, 2020 and requested written 

confirmation that the agency will satisfy the replacement easement condition of the land 

exchange Decision.  See Exhibit 7.  The Forest Service has not responded. 

35. The Forest Service’s refusal to satisfy the express condition of the Decision that 

CBLT will provide “at closing” a “replacement easement” “equivalent” to the Reciprocal 

Easement is agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed under the APA because 

it is: (a) discrete agency action that (b) the agency is required to take.  See 5 U.S.C. § 706(1); 

Norton v. S. Utah Wilderness All., 542 U.S. 55, 64 (2004).  The APA authorizes the Court to 

compel the Forest Service to require CBLT to provide the “replacement easement” “at closing” 

for the Reciprocal Easement because that action is specific, defined, and legally required by the 

Decision.  5 U.S.C. § 706(1).       

36. In the alternative, Plaintiff DLCTM, Ltd. respectfully requests that the Court 

declare that the Forest Service may not close the land exchange, and enjoin the agency from 

closing the land exchange, unless or until the Forest Service satisfies the express condition of the 
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Decision that it require CBLT to provide at closing the “replacement easement” that provides 

vehicle access for lot owners within Pristine Point, and sub-surface utility access to Lot 18, 

across the federal parcel to the exchange.     

PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

Claim 1 – The Forest Service’s Refusal to Satisfy the Replacement Easement Condition of 
its Land Exchange Decision Is Agency Action Unlawfully Withheld Under 5 U.S.C. § 706(1) 

 
37.  Plaintiff DLCTM reasserts and incorporates by reference each of the above 

paragraphs. 

38. DLCTM is entitled to judicial review under the APA, which grants that right to 

“[a] person suffering legal wrong because of agency action, or adversely affected or aggrieved 

by agency action.” 5 U.S.C. § 702; see also id. at § 551(13) (“‘agency action’ includes the . . . 

failure to act”).  

39. The APA authorizes a reviewing court to “compel agency action unlawfully 

withheld or unreasonably delayed.”  5 U.S.C. § 706(1). 

40. The Forest Service’s Decision is final agency action pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 704.   

41. The Decision states that “the Non-Federal Party [to the land exchange] will be 

required to provide a replacement easement at closing, authorizing equivalent rights” to the 

“Reciprocal easement granted to Pristine Point Inc., recorded at Gunnison County on January 29, 

1996, Book 777, Page 722.”  Exhibit 1 at 2.   

42.  By expressly refusing to require CBLT, the non-federal party to the land 

exchange, to provide the replacement easement described in the Decision, the Forest Service has 

unlawfully withheld a discrete agency action it is legally required to take.  See 5 U.S.C. § 706(1); 

Norton v. S. Utah Wilderness All., 542 U.S. 55, 64 (2004).   
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43. The APA authorizes the Court to compel the Forest Service to require CBLT to 

provide at closing of the land exchange the replacement easement required by the Decision to 

provide the Pristine Point Subdivision with year-round access to Lot 18, including subsurface 

utility line access.  5 U.S.C. § 706(1).    

Claim 2 – The Forest Service’s Refusal to Satisfy the Replacement Easement Condition of 
the Land Exchange Decision Existing Road Is Arbitrary, Capricious, and Contrary to Law 

44. DLCTM reasserts and incorporates by reference each of the above paragraphs. 

45. The replacement easement condition of the land exchange Decision states that 

“the Non-Federal Party [to the land exchange] will be required to provide a replacement 

easement at closing, authorizing equivalent rights” to the “Reciprocal easement granted to 

Pristine Point Inc., recorded at Gunnison County on January 29, 1996, Book 777, Page 722.”  

Exhibit 1 at 2. 

46. The replacement easement condition requires the Forest Service to require CBLT 

to provide “at closing” an easement in favor of the Pristine Point Subdivision that provides year-

round vehicle access for lot owners and subsurface utility line access over the federal parcel to be 

transferred to CBLT sufficient to allow for the construction, use and occupation of a residence on 

Lot 18. 

47. The replacement easement condition of the land exchange Decision is binding 

upon the Forest Service. 

a. Having imposed the replacement easement condition upon itself in the land 

exchange Decision, the Forest Service is legally obligated to refuse to close unless 

or until CBLT provides the replacement easement that provides vehicle and 

subsurface utility line access to Lot 18 under the binding terms of the Decision.   
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b. The Forest Service is bound by the replacement easement condition it imposed 

upon itself in the land exchange Decision because the agency must adhere to 

conditions to which it commits.  E.g., 40 C.F.R. § 1505.3 (“Mitigation . . . and 

other conditions established . . . during its review and committed as part of the 

decision shall be implanted by the lead agency.”); Pac. Coast Fed’n of 

Fishermen’s Ass’ns v. Blank, 693 F.3d 1084, 1104 n.16 (9th Cir. 2012) (“An 

agency must implement the measures it chooses to adopt in its decision.” ) (citing 

40 C.F.R. § 1505.3); Tyler v. Cisneros, 136 F.3d 603, 608 (9th Cir. 1998) (same).    

48. The replacement easement condition of the land exchange Decision is a binding 

condition of the Forest Service’s public interest determination for the land exchange under the 

Federal Land Policy Management Act, 43 U.S.C. § 1716(a). 

a. The Forest Service’s statutory authority to undertake the land exchange under the 

Federal Land Policy Management Act is conditioned on the agency’s 

determination that the exchange is in the “public interest.”  43 U.S.C. § 1716(a).   

b. A condition that the Forest Service imposes in the land exchange decision to 

ensure that the statutory public interest standard is satisfied is binding and 

judicially enforceable.   

c. The replacement easement condition of the land exchange decision serves to 

protect the public interest within the meaning of 43 U.S.C. § 1716(a) because it 

operates to provide access within a subdivision and is necessary to prevent Lot 18 

from being land locked.  See Exhibit 1 at 2.   
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d. The Forest Service will violate the public interest requirement of 43 U.S.C. 

§ 1716(a) if it completes the land exchange without satisfying the replacement 

easement condition of the land exchange decision. 

49. The replacement easement condition of the land exchange Decision is a principal 

basis on which the Forest Service rested its compliance with the National Environmental Policy 

Act.  It would be arbitrary and capricious for the agency to reply upon that condition in its 

categorical exclusion but dispense the same condition in undertaking the land exchange.   

a. The Forest Service relied upon the categorical exclusion from the National 

Environmental Policy Act at 36 C.F.R. § 220.6(d)(7), which may be used only for 

land exchanges “where resulting land uses remain essentially the same.”   

b. The replacement easement condition ensures that “resulting land uses remain 

essentially the same” within the meaning of the categorical exclusion by requiring 

CBLT to provide “at closing” the easement to permit Pristine Point lot owners, 

including DLCTM, with year-round vehicle and utility access to Lot 18, the same 

access provided by the Reciprocal Easement at Gunnison County, Book 777, Page 

722.  See Exhibit 2.   

c. It is arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to law for the Forest Service to rely upon 

the replacement easement condition for purposes of employing a categorical 

exclusion from the National Environmental Policy Act but to abandon the same 

condition in undertaking the land exchange itself.   

50. The Forest Service has not explained why it decided not to follow the replacement 

easement condition of the land exchange Decision.  See Exhibit 5.  The Forest Service instead 
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has simply stated it will do something else.  See Exhibit 5.  The Forest Service has not responded 

to DLCTM’s February 4, 2020 letter asking for confirmation that the agency will satisfy the 

replacement easement condition of the land exchange Decision.  See Exhibit 7. 

51. The APA authorizes a reviewing court to hold unlawful and set aside agency 

action that is arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law.  5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).  The Forest 

Service’s stated intent to refuse to satisfy the replacement easement condition of the land 

exchange Decision prior to completing the land exchange is arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to 

law within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). 

Claim 3 – The Forest Service Cannot Delegate the Reciprocal Easement to CBLT 

52. DLCTM reasserts and incorporates by reference each of the above paragraphs. 

53. The Forest Service stated its intent to delegate the Reciprocal Easement to CBLT 

for CBLT to administer.  Exhibit 5. 

54. The Forest Service cannot delegate the agency’s interest as grantor of the 

Reciprocal Easement to CBLT.   

55. The Forest Service’s interest as grantor under the Reciprocal Easement is 

authorized and defined by the right-of-way provisions of the Federal Land Policy Management 

Act referenced on the first page of the Reciprocal Easement.  See Exhibit 2; 43 U.S.C. § 1761 

(statute authorizing Department of Agriculture to issue a right-of-way).   

56. Under federal law, only the Department of Interior and the Department of 

Agriculture may issue, authorize, and administer the grantor’s interest in a Federal Land Policy 

Management Act right-of-way.  See 43 U.S.C. § 1761(a).   
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57. CBLT, a non-governmental entity, cannot grant, hold as successor-grantor, or 

administer as successor-grantor, a right-of-way or easement that under the Federal Land Policy 

Management Act may be issued, authorized or administered solely by the Department of Interior 

or Department of Agriculture.  43 U.S.C. § 1761(a).   

58. The Federal Land Policy Management Act states that where the Department of 

Agriculture “decides to transfer out of Federal ownership any lands covered in whole or in part 

by a right-of-way . . . the lands may be conveyed subject to the right-of-way,” which requires the 

Department of Agriculture to continue to administer the right-of-way.  43 U.S.C. § 1768.  The 

same statute does not permit the Department of Agriculture to convey the agency’s interest as 

grantor under the right-of-way to a non-federal party such as CBLT.   

59. The Forest Service cannot delegate to CBLT, a non-federal entity, the Forest 

Service’s duty to administer Forest Service special use authorizations such as the Reciprocal 

Easement.  E.g., Forest Serv. Emps. for Envtl. Ethics v. U.S. Forest Serv., 689 F. Supp.2d 891, 

905 (W.D. Ky. 2010) (ruling that the Forest Service could not delegate to a non-Forest Service 

entity the power to administer special use permits because “the delegation of such power by the 

Forest Service constitutes unlawful delegation of the agency’s duty” and “the Forest Service has 

been unable to show affirmative evidence of Congressional authority to delegate so extensively 

in direct violation of its regulations.”). 

60. On information and belief, the Forest Service is aware that CBLT’s position is 

that DLCTM has no subsurface utility line access to Lot 18.  The Forest Service, however, never 

stated in its Decision that the Reciprocal Easement does not provide utility line access to Lot 18. 
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61. It would be arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to law for the Forest Service to 

delegate the grantor’s interest in the Reciprocal Easement to CBLT given CBLT’s position that 

the Reciprocal Easement does not provide subsurface utility line access to Lot 18.     

62. The APA authorizes a reviewing court to hold unlawful and set aside agency 

action that is arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law.  5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).  The Forest 

Service’s stated intent to delegate the agency’s interest as grantor in the Reciprocal Easement to 

CBLT is arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to law within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff DLCTM respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment in 

favor of Plaintiff and against Defendant and provide the following relief: 

1. Compel the Forest Service to require CBLT to provide at closing of the land 

exchange a replacement easement that provides Plaintiff with year round vehicle access and 

subsurface utility line access to Lot 18 of Pristine Point Subdivision over the federal parcel to be 

exchanged to CBLT as required by the Forest Service’s land exchange Decision;  

2. Declare that the Forest Service may not close the land exchange without 

satisfying the replacement easement condition on page 2 of the land exchange Decision; 

3. Declare that the Forest Service’s intent to delegate the agency’s interest as grantor 

in the Reciprocal Easement to CBLT is arbitrary, capricious, and contrary to law within the 

meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A); 

4. Award Plaintiff a preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining the Forest 

Service from completing the land exchange unless or until the Forest Service satisfies the 

replacement easement condition of the Decision by requiring CBLT to provide at closing an 
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easement that provides Plaintiff with year-round vehicle access and subsurface utility line access 

to Lot 18 of Pristine Point Subdivision over the federal parcel to be exchanged to CBLT; 

5. Award DLCTM its attorneys’ fees under the Equal Access to Justice Act; and  

6. Provide such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 Respectfully submitted this 27th day of February 2020. 
 
 
LEWIS, BESS, WILLIAMS & WEESE P.C. 
 
 
/s/ Ezekiel J. Williams      

Ezekiel J. Williams  
Spencer R. Allen  
1801 California St., Suite 3400 
Denver, CO  80202 
Telephone:   303-861-2828 
Facsimile:   303-861-4017 
Email:  zwilliams@lewisbess.com; 
 sallen@lewisbess.com 
  
 
BUCK KEENAN LLP 
 
E.F. Mano DeAyala 
2229 San Felipe, Suite 1000 
Houston, TX 77019 
Telephone: 713-225-4500 
Facsimile: 713-225-3719 
 
Attorneys for DLCTM, Ltd. 
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USDA United Ststcs Forest Grand Mesa, Uncompahgre and 2250 South Main Street 
=.~ Department of Service Gunnison National Forests Delta, CO 81416
tffjjffljl@ Agriculture 970-874-6600 

TDD: 970-874-6660 
Fax: 970-874-6698 

File Code: 2730; 5430 

Date: January 28, 2020 

Kurt Gic:,selman 

Board President 

Pristine Point Owners' Association, Inc. 

PO Box 504 

Crested Butte, CO 81224 

Dear Mr. Giesselman: 

Thank you for your emails from you and Marcus Lock, Law of the Rockies. dated December 13, 

2019, and the letter from Mr. Lock to Public Service Staff Officer Corey Wong dated January 2, 

2020, in reply to my letter of December 2. 2019, regarding the road easement granted to Pristine 

Point Owners' Association (Pristine Point) by the Forest Service as it relates to the land 

exchange pending with the Crested Butte Land Trust (CBLT), In your email, you expressed 

concern for the environmental effects of up to four CBLT fund-raising events per year of up to 

50 people per event on the land to be exchanged. You also stated your concern for CBLT's lack 

of a restoration plan and a timetable to develop such a plan. Additionally, Mr. Lock identified the 

continued need of Pristine Point's road easement and asserted that the Forest Service does not 

have the right to terminate this easement upon the exchange of land to CBLT. 

Regarding your concern of CBLT's plans for restoration or future use of the land, CBLT has a 

long history serving as sound stewards of lands they manage either in fee or as holders of 
conservation easements. 

Regarding Mr. Lock's assertion of the agency's authority to terminate Pristine Point's road 

easement in conjunction with the disposal of the servient estate crossed by the easement, I agree 

the agency cannot do so without complying with the terms of the easement and, therefore, the 

agency plans to convey the agency's rights to administer and enforce the easement to CBLT. 
Pristine Point will continue to hold its road easement. 

In regard 10 the road easement granted to the United States by Pristine Point, Inc. in 1995 (in 

reciprocation for the easement discussed above), we plan to terminate this easement at closing 

because the easement is for the exclusive use of the United States (grantee) and is no longer 

needed given the County's easement, which is similar in scope and nature. 

,., 
Caring for the Land and Serving People l',io,,•U ,,,, R;•q•,·L,·d f'.1p,:, ,.., 
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2 Kurt Giesse!man 

I have determined this land exchange is in the public interest and expect lo dose on the land 

exchange within a month. I am copying Noel Durant, CBLT Executive Director, to ensure 

common understanding of my assessment and plans. Please contact Public Service Staff Officer 

Corey Wong at 970-874-6668 or corev.,vonuQiiusda.2.ov with any questions. 

1 Forest Supervisor 
(t-tl r 

cc: Noel Durant, Marcus Lock 
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E. F. Mano DeAyala, Partner 
Attorney at Law 

2229 San Felipe, Suite 1000 
Houston, Texas 77019 
Main: 713-225-4500 
Direct: 713-546-2415 
Fax: 713-225-3719 
deayala@buckkeenan.com 
www.buckkeenan.com 

 

February 4, 2020 

Via Email 

Mr. Corey Wong – corey.wong@usda.gov 
Public Service Staff Officer 
Grand Mesa, Uncompahgre & Gunnison National Forest 
2250 South Main Street 
Delta, CO 81416 
 

Re: Long Lake Exchange Categorical Exclusion and Decision Memo  
(June 25, 2019) (“Decision”) 

 
Dear Mr. Wong: 
 

As you know, Zeke Williams and I represent DLCTM, Ltd., (“DLCTM”) owner of Lot 18 
located in the Pristine Pointe subdivision.  I appreciate your time on the phone last week and 
listening to my concerns concerning the future of Lot 18 after the exchange of 120 acres of 
National Forest System land to Crested Butte Land Trust (“CBLT”).   

 
I am writing to request the Forest Service’s written confirmation that it intends to adhere 

to a condition stated in the above-referenced Decision.  Specifically, the Forest Service stated on 
page 2 of the Decision that “the Non-Federal Party will be required to provide a replacement 
easement at closing, authorizing equivalent rights” to a “Reciprocal easement granted to Pristine 
Point Inc. recorded at Gunnison County on January 29, 1996, Book 777, Page 722.”   

 
Please confirm that the Forest Service will require CBLT, the Non-Federal Party to the land 

exchange, to satisfy that condition of the Decision at or before closing.  The Decision requires 
CBLT to provide “at closing” of the land exchange a “replacement easement” over the federal 
parcel exchanged to Crested Butte Land Trust to be “equivalent” to the referenced easement 
recorded in Gunnison County at Book 777, Page 722.   

 
The “replacement easement” delivered by CBLT must provide vehicle and subsurface 

utility access over the federal parcel to Lot 18 of Pristine Point to satisfy the “equivalent rights” 
requirement of the Decision.  The easement at Book 777, Page 722 states in Paragraph D on page 
2 that it “shall continue for as long as needed for the purpose of access to a residential subdivision.”  
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BUCK KEENAN L.L.P. 
 
Mr. Wong 
February 27, 2020 
Page 2 
 

 

“Access to a residential subdivision” requires vehicle access, and subsurface utility line access, as 
a matter of common sense; without such access the subdivision cannot be used as a subdivision.  
The Forest Service and Pristine Point agreed with that when the Forest Service granted the 
easement.  Exhibit A to the easement contemplates utilities to Lot 18.  And the road easement that 
Pristine Point granted to the Forest Service in 1995, to which the easement from CBLT must be 
“reciprocal,” expressly provided for the “installation, replacement, repair and maintenance of 
underground utility lines and fixtures.”  See Grant of Existing Road Easement at page 2, Gunnison 
County, Book 777, Page 433.   

 
The Forest Service should require CBLT to provide the easement with road and subsurface 

utility access for another reason: it is required by the categorical exclusion from the National 
Environmental Policy Act on which the land exchange Decision rests.  The Forest Service 
expressly relied upon a categorical exclusion for an “exchange of land or interest in land where 
resulting land uses remain essentially the same.”  36 C.F.R. § 220.6(d)(7).  The “land use” of the 
federal parcel included the outstanding Forest Service road easement granted to Pristine Point for 
access to a subdivision, including Lot 18.  Further, the “land use” of Lot 18 for purposes of the 
categorical exclusion allows for development of a residential structure, with utility access.  The 
Forest Service did not disclose in its scoping notice or in the Decision that the land exchange would 
“land lock” or maroon Lot 18 without road or utility access.  Such a result does not ensure that 
“resulting land uses remain essentially the same” as required by 36 C.F.R. § 220.6(d)(7).   

 
For these reasons, the Decision requires CBLT “at closing” to provide an easement over 

the federal parcel to the exchange that provides vehicle and subsurface utility line access to Lot 18 
of Pristine Point.   

 
Noel Durant of CBLT and I have had several conversations by phone and emails.  We 

(including Pristine Point HOA) have exchanged drafts of the replacement easement as required by 
the Decision.  But that changed recently. Contrary to the express language of the Decision, the 
CBLT now maintains it is no longer required to provide a replacement easement. On behalf of 
DLCTM, I have been consistent in my efforts to document with the CBLT access for utilities to 
Lot 18, whether in the replacement easement or a separate document.  Although Mr. Durant has 
expressed a willingness to revisit the topic of utilities to Lot 18 to some unspecified date after the 
transaction has closed, when pressed he recently expressed CBLT’s position that Lot 18 has no 
rights to utilities.  

 
As you know, conditions stated in a Decision are binding on the agency and judicially 

enforceable.  DLCTM has standing to do so and will act if the Forest Service plans to allow CBLT 
to disregard this condition of the land exchange.  The issue of road and utility access to Lot 18 
must be resolved prior to the closing.  I ask that the USDA, CBLT and DLCTM resolve this issue 
prior to February 14.  To that end, I look forward to hearing from you. 

 
Very truly yours, 
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Mr. Wong 
February 27, 2020 
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E. F. Mano DeAyala 

 
 
 
MD:lm 
Enclosure 
 
cc:  Noel Durant      noel@cblandtrust.org 
 Executive Director 
 Crested Butte Land Trust 

 
Kurt Giesselman    kurtgiesselman@gmail.com 
Board President 
Pristine Point Owners' Association, Inc.  
PO Box 504 
Crested Butte, CO 81224 
 
Zeke Williams     zwilliams@lewisbess.com 
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